IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Dec 12 2023
12:33PM EST
Transaction ID 71603172

No. 23-478

VICTOR LEE THOMPSON, Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Respondent.

(Appeal from sentencing order of the Circuit Court of
Wood County, West Virginia, 22-F-80)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner,

William R. Morris, Esq.
WV State Bar No. 14278
P.O. Box 5518 Vienna, WV 26105
(304) 488-4601 (call | text)
william@jmorganleach.law
jmorganleach.law

J. Morgan Leach, Esq.
WV State Bar No. 13124
P.O. Box 5518 Vienna, WV 26105
(855) 444-5529 (call | text | fax)
morgan@jmorganleach.law
jmorganleach.law

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE BOOKING PHOTOGRAPHS AND THE 911 CALL INTO EVIDENCE
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF TIFFANY MCCUNE
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR POST-VERDICT JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
- IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case stems from a tragic incident wherein the Defendant, Victor Thompson (hereinafter “Mr. Thompson”), was forced to use deadly force in self-defense when the alleged victim, Mr. Salaam drew a gun on him. Mr. Thompson was an invited guest at the McCune household and was a longtime and trusted friend of the McCune’s. On the date of the incident, Mr. Thompson was having an argument with Mrs. McCune stemming from a drug transaction the night before. Mrs. McCune, while heavily intoxicated on recreational drugs, escalated the argument by reaching for a gun. At some point during the argument, Mr. Thompson was able to remove the firearm from Mrs. McCune. Upon hearing the scuffle, Mr. Salaam came from a back bedroom and drew his gun on Mr. Thompson. Mr. Thompson then used the gun taken from Mrs. McCune in self-defense against Mr. Salaam. Mr. Thompson was subsequently indicted on one count of first degree murder, one count of felony murder, and one count of burglary.

Mr. Thompson now prays that the Supreme Court of Appeals review the underlying conviction entered on the 22nd day of December, 2022. Mr. Thompson contends that the denial of his *Motion for Post-Verdict Judgment of Acquittal* and *Motion for a New Trial*, were erroneous.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order to fully understand this case, it is important to first recognize that all of the parties involved were engaged in illicit drug use. Mr. Thompson was friends with Josh McCune and Tiffany McCune, the occupants of the residence at issue where illicit drug use was common. Indeed, Mr. Thompson was such a close, trusted friend that he was the only person, with the exception of the McCune's, that had the keypad entry code to the front door of the residence. (*See Appx.* at 45).

The trial court erred on four separate occasions, and in doing so, denied Mr. Thompson of his constitutional right to a fair trial. First, the trial court erred when it permitted the State to improperly and methodically use evidence in order to obtain Mr. Thompson's conviction. Such evidence includes Mr. Thompson's booking photos of tattoos depicting a swastika and the Aryan brotherhood logo, both of which are improper 404(b) evidence that were used by the State to argue motive that simply did not exist. The State used a thinly veiled reasoning for its use of the tattoos as a way of identifying Mr. Thompson, despite various other identifiable tattoos that easily could have achieved the same result without any risk of prejudice to him. The purpose for using photographs of the prejudicial tattoos immediately became apparent when the State made numerous mentions of Mr. Thompson's swastika tattoo, along with the statement that Mr. Thompson made at the time he was apprehended after the incident, which was "All this over a n*gger" throughout their opening statement, while painting Mr. Thompson as a man who had no regard for the victim's life because of his beliefs. (*See Appx.* at 21, 42).

Next, the Circuit Court erred in admitting the 911 call into evidence as the evidence contained no probative value as to the issues at trial and any potential probative value was substantially outweighed by the prejudicial effect that the call had on the jury. The prejudicial

effect was obvious in the courtroom as tears stained the faces of every member of the victim's family in the gallery, as well as members of the jury as the recording was played. The 911 recording was played exclusively for dramatic effect and provided the jury no further evidence as to the State's case against Mr. Thompson - and therefore used for an improper purpose at trial by the State. Therefore, the Circuit Court abused its discretion in admitting the call into evidence without performing a proper Rule 403 analysis that would have prevented the evidence from being admitted at trial.

Third, despite the Circuit Court's awareness of the numerous credibility issues of Tiffany McCune - who was deceased and therefore an unavailable witness at trial - it nevertheless abused its discretion and erred by admitting the statements into evidence. Such credibility issues include:

1. Testimony of both her cousin and husband that it was common for her to lie to manipulate people;
2. The presence of a timeline giving her at least twenty minutes to formulate an altered story of the events; and
3. Her abuse of illicit drugs on the day in question to the point in which she was barely able to formulate a coherent sentence.

Pursuant to this Court's prior analysis regarding the admissibility of testimonial and nontestimonial evidence, such admittance of the improper hearsay statements of Tiffany McCune is a clear abuse of discretion.

Lastly, Mr. Thompson asserts that the State failed to meet their burden of proof at trial and that his *Motion for Post-Verdict Judgment of Acquittal* and *Motion for a New Trial* were denied in error. Here, the state failed to meet their burden with their own witness, Josh McCune, the former owner of the residence, who testified that Mr. Thompson had always been a

welcomed guest and trusted at the McCune household with keypad entry by both himself and his wife, thus negating an essential element of the alleged burglary. It is clear based on this testimony that Mr. Thompson lacked the requisite *mens rea* to form the intent necessary to be convicted of felony murder with the underlying offense being burglary. As a welcomed guest, Mr. Thompson could not have statutorily committed a burglary, and thus is not guilty of felony murder. Based on such testimony, no reasonable jury, weighing solely the evidence at trial, could have found that Mr. Thompson possessed the requisite *mens rea* to sustain this conviction.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is necessary pursuant to Rule 19(a) for the following reasons: (1) the case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law; (2) the case involves an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled; and (3) the case involves a narrow issue of law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The following standards of review apply to Mr. Thompson's four assignments of error:

The standard of review for a trial court's admission of evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) involves a three-step analysis. First, we review for clear error the trial court's factual determination that there is sufficient evidence to show the other acts occurred. Second, we review *de novo* whether the trial court correctly found the evidence was admissible for a legitimate purpose. Third, we review for an abuse of discretion the trial court's conclusion that the "other acts" evidence is more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403.

State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 310-311, 470 S.E.2d 613 (W. Va. 1996) (overruled on other grounds).

A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard.

Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodossakis*, 204 W. Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (W. Va. 1998).

It is presumed a defendant is protected from undue prejudice if the following

requirements are met: (1) the prosecution offered the evidence for a proper purpose; (2) the evidence was relevant; (3) the trial court made an on-the-record determination under Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence that the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice; and (4) the trial court gave a limiting instruction.

Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (W Va. 1996) (overruled on other grounds).

The trial court's disposition of a motion for judgment of acquittal is subject to our *de novo* review; therefore, this Court, like the trial court, must scrutinize the evidence in the light most compatible with the verdict, resolve all credibility disputes in the verdict's favor, and then reach a judgment about whether a rational jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (W. Va. 1996) (overruled on other grounds).

In reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, we apply a two-pronged differential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.

State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (W. Va. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE BOOKING PHOTOGRAPHS AND THE 911 CALL INTO EVIDENCE

Evidence is relevant if it has a tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence and the fact is of consequence in determining the action. *W.Va. R. Evid. 401*. However, even if it is determined that the evidence is relevant, the court should exclude such evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence. *W.Va. R. Evid. 403*. When a Defendant would be unfairly prejudiced or the jury would be misled by the admission of evidence, the court should not allow the evidence to be admitted. In this case, Mr. Thompson was

unfairly prejudiced by both the booking photographs and the 911 call. It is clear that the jury was misled as to the actual events in question at trial by being exposed to said prejudicial evidence which gave them a preconceived notion that the act of self-defense by Mr. Thompson was actually a racially motivated killing - a fact not alleged by the State in the *Indictment*. (*See Appx.* at 4).

A. Booking Photographs

The use of Mr. Thompson's swastika tattoo and Aryan tattoo as evidence over the objection of the Defendant¹ violated Rules 401, 403, and 404 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence and their admittance by the Trial Court constitutes reversible error.

i. The booking photographs were not relevant pursuant to Rule 401 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence

Rule 401 declares that "evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the fact is of consequence in determining the action." In the case at hand, the alleged victim's race did not have a role in the events that led to the unfortunate death of Mr. Salaam. Mr. Thompson went to the residence to visit the McCune's, unaware that Mr. Salaam was there. (*See Appx.* at 440-441). Upon discovering the alleged victim's unexpected presence – for which he was only made aware upon seeing Mr. Salaam with a gun drawn– Mr. Thompson was caught off guard and was forced to make the split second decision to defend himself. He did not have time to act based on any presence of premeditation based on Mr. Salaam's race that would warrant the improper admittance of prejudicial evidence depicting tattoos with a racial undertone. (*See Appx.* at 44-53). Evidence of Mr. Thompson's tattoos did not make the killing any more or less probable

¹*See Appx.* 4-12; *See also Supp. Appx.* 32; 36-38.

than it would be without such evidence. Thus, any evidence of his tattoos would not have any relevance to the case at hand.

It is undisputed that all of the parties involved in this case were engaged in illicit drug use. As stated above, Mr. Thompson was friends with Josh McCune and Tiffany McCune, the occupants of the residence at issue, and such a close friend that he was trusted with the keypad entry code to the front door of their residence; the only such individual whom the McCune's placed such trust in. (*See Appx.* at 45). There was simply no allegation or evidence of racial undertones by Mr. Thompson, given his close relationship with the McCune's - and more importantly - there is no evidence that Mr. Thompson was aware of Mr. Salaam's presence in the home prior to his entry. (*See Appx.* at 439-441). To the contrary, the evidence demonstrated that Mr. Thompson only became aware of Mr. Salaam's presence - and skin color - at the time that Mr. Salaam drew a firearm on Mr. Thompson when he instantly acted in self defense. Therefore, the booking photographs depicting his tattoos were not relevant and should have been excluded at trial.

ii. The use of the photographs were unfairly prejudicial pursuant to Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.

Even if evidence of Mr. Thompson's tattoos were to be found relevant, the use of such evidence violated Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. There has been little argument made by the State as to any probative value of the tattoos nor that such value is not substantially outweighed by a danger of unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, and misleading the jury.

Pursuant to Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, "[t]he court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of

the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.”

After a diligent search of relevant case law, it appears that the issue of the prejudicial natures specific to tattoos is one of first impression in the State of West Virginia. The issue is discussed generally in *State v. Meade*, 196 W. Va. 551 (W. Va. 1996) in the context of identification, who stated,

Although the parties have cited no cases in this State involving the display of tattoos were factors to be considered upon the issue of identification in *State v. Tharp*, 184 W. Va. 292, 400 S.E.2d 300 (1990), and *State ex rel. Gonzales v. Wilt*, 163 W. Va. 270, 256 S.E.2d 15 (1979). Nevertheless, cases from other jurisdictions clearly indicate that it is within the discretion of the trial court to require a defendant to display tattoos to the jury in a criminal case, upon the issue of identification.

Id. at 556. However, the court in *Meade* did not address any prejudicial issues, as is the case here.

Upon revisiting the matter, the court in *Creamer* reemphasized this standard in stating:

Ordinarily, it is not an abuse of discretion for a trial court in a criminal case to direct the accused to reveal or display the accused’s tattoos to a witness and to the jury at trial, where the accused’s tattoos are relevant to the question of the identification of the perpetrator of the offense and where the trial court has weighed the probative value of such evidence against the danger of unfair prejudice, etc., pursuant to Rules 401, 402, and 403 of the *West Virginia Rules of Evidence*. (citing Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Meade*, 196 W. Va. 551, 474 S.E.2d 481 (1996)).

State v. Creamer, No. 11-0848 at *2-3. (W. Va. Apr. 16, 2012).

The booking photographs in question here show Mr. Thompson’s tattoos that depict a swastika and an Aryan logo. Because the prejudicial nature of such tattoos has not been visited in the State of West Virginia, it is important to consult outside jurisdictions to help guide us in how this issue should be considered. Most parallel to the matter here is *State v. Atkinson*. There, in ruling that the probative value of evidence of a swastika tattoo and a racial epithet being used

after an incident was far outweighed by its prejudicial effect. The court in *State v. Atkinson*, No. CA2009-10-129 (Ohio Ct. App. 2010) stated:

Evidence regarding Officer Adkins' alleged swastika tattoo or use of a racial epithet towards appellant is not probative of the material issues of whether a felonious assault occurred, or whether appellant had a valid defense thereto. Although appellant claimed self-defense, he presented no evidence at trial that racial bias instigated the physical altercation between the men. In fact, on cross-examination, appellant was permitted to ask Adkins whether he recalled saying "bring that n*gger back here, he hit me in the face," which clearly references a point in time *after* the physical altercation occurred. Thus, evidence of Adkins' alleged tattoo and use of a racial epithet is not probative of any material issue in this case.

Id. at *2-3.

Additionally, the court in *State v. Stein*, No. 71531-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 21, 2016) was faced with a similar circumstance when the Defendant wanted to introduce evidence of the victim's swastika tattoo in order to prove his propensity to harm the Defendant, thus providing a theory of self defense. However, the court explained that:

The State argues that evidence of Smith's swastika tattoo is extremely inflammatory and therefore prejudicial. We agree with the State that it would be difficult "to find a more reviled group to associate with than the Nazi party." Some jurors would have a strong emotional reaction to the swastika that it would override their ability to decide the case rationally. Therefore, the swastika tattoo was prejudicial...The swastika tattoo adds little to Stein's motive argument. On the other hand, the jury, upon learning that Smith had a swastika tattoo, would likely have condemned Smith as a racist. This view of Smith would have provoked a prejudicial response that damaged the jury's ability to make rational decisions. Therefore, the State's interest in excluding the tattoo outweighed Stein's need to introduce it.

Id.

Applied here, the Circuit Court agreed with the State's thinly veiled reasoning as to the probative value of the tattoos as a way of identifying Mr. Thompson and any injuries he may or may not have suffered as a result of self-defense, despite various other identifiable tattoos and photos of the Defendant that could have achieved the same result without the risk of prejudice.

(*See Supp. Appx 36*). However, and in stark contrast to *Meade*, the majority of the conversation about his tattoos was used to describe his character. It is quite obvious that the true purpose for using booking photographs of the prejudicial tattoos was intended to paint Mr. Thompson as a man who possessed no regard for the victim's life on account of perceived racist tendencies. The State never referred to the tattoos for purposes of identifying any injuries the Defendant may or may not have suffered; the very probative argument adopted by the Court. (*Id.* at 36).

The State's intent immediately became apparent in their opening statement as they made numerous mentions of Mr. Thompson's swastika tattoo in accordance with the racially charged statement he made at the time he was apprehended. (*See Appx.* at 21, 42). Additionally, the State questioned Mr. Thompson extensively about the tattoos when he took the stand to testify, indicating their intent to unfairly prejudice his character to the jury. When he was finally given an opportunity to explain the tattoos, Mr. Thompson testified:

State:

Q. Do you think less of black people?

A. No.

Q. Do you have swastika tattoos?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you have Aryan tattoos across your stomach?

A. Yes. That is like in prison –

Q. When you were taken into custody you told Officer Day, "Us white guys have to stick together."?

A. Yes.

Q. You also said, "All this over a n*gger."?

A. Yes.

Q. This is not about self defense. This is about race.

A. No.

Defense:

Q. Mr. Thompson, you started to say something with respect to your tattoos. You want to tell the jury what you had to say about that?

A. Yes. Prison it is a whole different world up there, and you need to get with your kind or become a victim yourself. It is just, it is not like it is out here. It is really backward.

Q. And with respect to the questions about telling law enforcement if you knew where he was or not, that interview took place after you were arrested?

A. Yes.

Q. So just to make sure that everybody is clear, at the time that you went into the house on May 30, did you know that he was there?

A. No.

Q. And so you didn't know that – what room he may be in?

A. No. I learned all this after the fact.

(*See Appx.* at 439-441). Unfortunately, despite Mr. Thompson being able to fully explain the context of the tattoos, the prejudicial damage had already been done.

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