IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-478

**SCA EFiled: Jan 26 2024
03:25PM EST
Transaction ID 71887371**

VICTOR LEE THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Frankie Dame (WV Bar # 14401)
Assistant Solicitor General
State Capitol Complex
Building 1, Room E-26
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Frankie.A.Dame@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Facsimile: (304) 558-0140**

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

III. Tiffany McCune’s admitted statements do not violate the Confrontation Clause or the hearsay rules.

Petitioner’s second assignment of error flows from this bit of Parkersburg Police Officer Anthony Deskin’s testimony: on May 30, 2021, at 2:23 p.m., the Parkersburg 911 dispatcher sent Officer Deskins to the McCune house in response to Darren Jr.’s 911 call. App. 106. He was the initial first responder on the scene. App. 108. After he arrived, he began walking towards the back porch of the house where Darren lay dying. App. 107. He saw Colton holding Darren, Tiffany and Kelsea pacing, and Darren Jr. standing nearby. *Id.* Tiffany immediately began walking towards him, and they met in the middle of the backyard. App. 108. Like everyone else, Tiffany was “frantic” and “emotional.” *Id.* Officer Deskins asked her no questions and did not approach her. App. 109. Tiffany volunteered that Petitioner had “pistol whipped” her “and then shot Darren.” *Id.* Officer Deskins then secured the house. App. 111. At trial, Petitioner objected to this testimony on Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause and hearsay grounds; the Court overruled the objections. App. 109-10. It was right to do so.

A. Admitting Tiffany’s statement did not violate the Confrontation Clause.

The Confrontation Clauses in the federal and West Virginia Constitutions “bar[] the admission of a testimonial statement by a witness who does not appear at trial, unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness.”

Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474 (2021) (cleaned up). Tiffany was not at trial and Petitioner did not get to cross-examine her, so the question is whether her challenged statement was testimonial. *In re C.B.*, 245 W. Va. 666, 675, 865 S.E.2d 68, 77 (2021) (saying only testimonial statements trigger the Confrontation Clause). Tiffany’s statement was not testimonial because she intended it to address two ongoing emergencies, she offered it spontaneously in an informal setting and not in response to questioning, and because it was an excited utterance.

This Court follows the federal Supreme Court in defining “testimonial” statements using a “‘core class’ of testimonial materials that may be broadened by use of the ‘primary purpose’ test.” *State v. Kennedy*, 229 W. Va. 756, 765, 735 S.E.2d 905, 914 (2012). These core materials are chiefly “ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent—that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations” and the resulting statements or confessions, depositions, affidavits, and “prior testimony . . . , or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially.” *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51-52 (2004). Tiffany’s statement was none of those: it was a spontaneous, unprovoked exclamation with no trappings of officiality. So Petitioner must show that the statement satisfies the primary-purpose test, which asks “whether the evidence was for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact at trial.” *Kennedy*, 229 W. Va. at 766, 735 S.E.2d at 915 (quoting *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 310-11 (2009)) (cleaned up). The ultimate question is whether the witness gave the statement with the “primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony.” *Ohio v. Clark*, 576 U.S. 237, 250-51 (2015). Or as this Court has phrased the test: a statement “made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial” is testimonial. Syl. pt. 8, *State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311 (2006). This analysis focuses on the “statement,” syl. pt. 10, *id.*,

and is “flexible and inherently fact-based,” *id.* at 376, 633 S.E.2d at 321. The circumstances surrounding Tiffany’s unprompted statement to the responding officer objectively show that she did not primarily intend for her statement to create material for trial.

First, Tiffany’s testimony addressed ongoing medical and safety emergencies. This Court has said that a statement is not testimonial if it is intended to help police “meet an ongoing emergency.” Syl. pt. 9, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. When Tiffany accosted Officer Deskins, there were two ongoing emergencies: Darren was bleeding out just feet away, and Officer Deskins had no idea who or where the shooter was. The circumstances here “objectively indicate” that Tiffany was trying to get Darren medical help and explain the situation so Officer Deskins could prevent additional harm. She was also explaining why she was injured. *See State v. Bazar*, No. 14-0916, 2015 WL 7628722, at *3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 20, 2015) (holding that a victim’s statement given to an officer just arriving on scene and explaining why she was hurt counted as an “ongoing emergency”). Ultimately, nothing indicates she was trying to “establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.” *Kaufman*, 227 W. Va. at 551, 711 S.E.2d at 621.

The most analogous case, though, is *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344 (2011). The federal Supreme Court found an emergency after ticking through several facts—all of which have close parallels here. Like the *Bryant* victim, nothing Tiffany said “indicated that the cause of the shooting was a purely private dispute or that the threat from the shooter had ended.” *Id.* at 372. Nor did either one share the “motive for the shooting.” *Id.* at 373. Nor did either explain “whether the threat was limited to” them. *Id.* So like *Bryant*, the emergency here “stretche[d] more broadly” and “encompasse[d] a threat potentially to the police and the public.” *Id.* Also like Petitioner, *Bryant* tried to argue that because the shooter was not immediately present, there was no

emergency. But the Court in *Bryant* refused to limit “ongoing emergencies” to “the violent act itself”; like Petitioner, the shooter was still armed and on the loose, so there was still an active emergency. *Id.* at 373-374. Finally, the police in *Bryant*, just like Officer Deskins here, did not know “the location of the shooter” when the declarant spoke. *Id.* at 374. In short, because “there was an ongoing emergency here where an armed shooter, whose motive for and location after the shooting were unknown, had mortally wounded” Darren near “the location where the police found” him, Tiffany’s statement was not testimonial. *Id.*

Petitioner argues that the emergency was over because EMS were on their way. Pet’r’s Br. 21. This narrow view of “ongoing emergencies” runs smack into *Bryant*’s expansive understanding of shooting-related emergencies. And it contradicts this Court’s broad, liberal use of that term, too. Take *O’Dell*, where this Court held that a suicide victim’s note was not testimonial. *O’Dell v. Ballard*, No. 13-0220, 2013 WL 6152368, at *1-3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 22, 2013). The Court refused to “objectively characterize” the “circumstances” around the note “as nonemergency.” *Id.* at *3. The note was not trying “to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution,” but instead trying to “bring closure to a number of events in his life,” it explained. *Id.* And in *Kaufman*, the Court held non-testimonial a domestic violence victim’s diary entries written over several weeks—again, because nothing in the facts showed there was not an “ongoing emergency.” *Kaufman*, 227 W. Va. at 551, 711 S.E.2d at 621. Tiffany’s statement was far more emergent than either of those nontestimonial pieces of evidence: it was given while Darren was dying, before EMS arrived, to the first officer she saw, before the officer knew who or where the shooter was, and while Petitioner was still potentially nearby. It simply was not “objectively apparent that the emergency ha[d] passed.” *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 377, 633 S.E.2d at 322; *see also Clark*, 576 U.S. at 246 (saying an “ongoing emergency” can

include wondering sometime during a school day whether to give a preschooler back to a potentially abusing parent at the end of that day).

Further, Petitioner’s narrow focus misses the ongoing *safety* emergency. “[O]fficers called to investigate ... need to know whom they are dealing with in order to assess the situation, the threat to their own safety, and possible danger to the potential victim.” *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 832 (2006) (cleaned up). In shooting situations, until the police get those facts, it is almost certainly an ongoing emergency. *See id.* (noting that responding officers “often” receive “nontestimonial statements”). In *Smith v. New York*, No. 20-cv-9708, 2023 WL 359568, at *22 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 20, 2023), for example, the court held a 911 caller’s description of the perpetrator’s clothing nontestimonial because it was intended to resolve “the exigent emergency, specifically assisting police in apprehending the shooter as quickly as possible.” This case is exactly like *Philpot v. State*, 709 S.E.2d 831, 838-39 (Ga. Ct. App. 2011), where a still-shaken-up burglary victim described the burglar and his actions to the first responding officer. The court held that nontestimonial because the burglar was armed and had “just left the scene”; so even though he was not “immediately threaten[ing]” the victim, that he was on the loose meant he still posed “a serious potential threat to the prior victim and her neighbors. *Id.* at 839. Petitioner here was not immediately present, but he could still have been nearby posing a threat to Tiffany and her friends. Because Tiffany’s statement was “intended to describe current circumstances that required immediate police action”—“securing a crime scene and determining whether an armed killer might still be in the vicinity”—it addressed an ongoing emergency and, thus, was not testimonial. *McCord v. State*, 825 S.E.2d 122, 127 (Ga. 2019).

Second, Tiffany volunteered her statement to police in an informal setting. That a statement is made to an officer outside an interrogation is good evidence it isn’t intended to replace

trial testimony. *Kaufman*, 227 W. Va. at 551, 711 S.E.2d at 621; *see also Clark*, 576 U.S. at 244-45. If statements don't flow from an interrogation, courts are hesitant to call them testimonial. *United States v. Bowen*, 511 F. Supp. 3d 441, 448 (S.D.N.Y. 2021). Even more when the declarant offers the information unprompted: Indeed, some States have a general rule that "spontaneous statements to the police are not testimonial." *Villanueva v. State*, 576 S.W.3d 400, 405 (Tex. App. 2019). So in *State v. Warsame*, 735 N.W.2d 684, 692 (Minn. 2007), for example, when an injured domestic violence victim walked to a police department to report the crime, the court held that non-interrogation statement nontestimonial—even though the whole purpose of the statement was to form the basis for a criminal investigation. Here, an injured Tiffany approached Officer Deskins voluntarily, at the scene instead of after-the-fact, and without "the structure and formality of an official interrogation"—so the case against finding it testimonial is even clearer than in *Warsame*.

Third, that Tiffany's statement counts as an excited utterance, *infra* Section III(b), is strong proof it is not testimonial. In *Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 324, the Court noted that "[m]ost of the hearsay exceptions covered statements that by their nature were not testimonial." And that includes excited utterances. *Bryant*, 562 U.S. at 362. That is because, "[b]y their nature," excited utterances "are 'made for a purpose other than use in a prosecution.'" *Leach v. Collado*, No. 18-cv-3427, 2023 WL 4138360, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. June 22, 2023) (quoting *Bryant*, 562 U.S. at 362 n.9). The excited-utterance and testimonial-statement analyses are closely linked: the former "focuses on whether the declarant was under the stress of a startling event," and the latter asks "whether a reasonable declarant, similarly situated (that is, excited by the stress of a startling event), would have had the capacity to appreciate the legal ramifications of her statement." *United States v. Brito*, 427 F.3d 53, 61 (1st Cir. 2005). So while establishing that a statement falls into a hearsay exception does not resolve Confrontation Clause concerns on its own, it provides strong

evidence the court is dealing with something outside the testimonial realm. Here, the evidence shows Tiffany was distraught, easily satisfying the excited-utterance test. *See* Section III(b). The Court should therefore hold Tiffany’s statement nontestimonial.

But even if her statement was testimonial, its admission was harmless for two reasons. *See In re C.B.*, 245 W. Va. at 675, 865 S.E.2d at 77 (“Failure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” (cleaned up)).

First, Petitioner does not challenge Josh’s identical testimony on Confrontation Clause grounds.⁶ Remember that when police were lining up witnesses on the sidewalk, Tiffany told Josh that Petitioner had pistol whipped her and shot Darren. App. 333-34. In other words, the jury heard Tiffany’s second-hand account (that time through Josh’s testimony) about both of those crimes anyway. So even if this Court assumes, “arguendo, that [Tiffany’s] statements were testimonial, their admission was harmless given the State’s other evidence at trial.” *State v. Shingleton*, 237 W. Va. 669, 684, 790 S.E.2d 505, 520 (2016).

⁶ Any Confrontation Clause objection here would have been dead on arrival. Statements to nongovernmental persons—especially when they are family or a friend—are not testimonial. *See Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51 (saying “casual remark[s] to an acquaintance” are not testimonial). Federal and state courts consistently reject these objections. *See, e.g., Clark*, 576 U.S. at 249; *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 376 (2008); *United States v. Benson*, 957 F.3d 218, 230 (4th Cir. 2020); *United States v. Berkman*, 433 F. App’x 859, 863-64 (11th Cir. 2011); *Garnett v. Morgan*, 330 F. App’x 671, 672 (9th Cir. 2009); *United States v. Franklin*, 415 F.3d 537, 545 (6th Cir. 2005); *United States v. Hernandez*, 571 F. Supp. 3d 1217, 1222 (E.D. Okla. 2021). West Virginia is no different. This Court has said that *Crawford* does not extend to “statements to non-official and non-investigatorial witnesses, made prior to and apart from any governmental investigation.” *State v. Ferguson*, 216 W. Va. 420, 423, 607 S.E.2d 526, 529 (2004) (the witness was declarant’s friend); *see also State v. Bowling*, 232 W. Va. 529, 545, 753 S.E.2d 27, 43 (2013) (sister). Because Tiffany’s comment was “made to [her] loved one[,]” it was “not the memorialized, judicial-process-created evidence” *Crawford* applies to. *State v. Henson*, 239 W. Va. 898, 910, 806 S.E.2d 822, 834 (2017). Sharing with Josh would not “lead an objective witness” in Tiffany’s position to reasonably believe her “statement would be available for use at a later trial.” *Id.* So there is no argument that her statements to Josh were testimonial.

Second, Petitioner admitted both these facts at trial: “Q. You admitted that you did hit Tiffany McCune in the head, correct? A. Yes,” App. 431, and “Q. ... you admit you shot Darren Salaam, Sr., right? A. Yes, ma’am,” App. 427. In *In re C.B.*, this Court explained that because of the petitioner’s other admissions supporting the disputed fact, any Confrontation-Clause error in admitting the suspect evidence “was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” 245 W. Va. at 675, 865 S.E.2d at 77 (cleaned up). That rule makes sense: The Clause protects defendants’ right to confront witnesses against them to cast doubt on their testimony. A defendant who personally confirms the same facts has little need to invoke that right. Or take *State v. Bruffey*, where the circuit court had allowed a police officer to testify about a conversation with a bank-robbery witness. 231 W. Va. 502, 507, 745 S.E.2d 540, 545 (2013). The Court said that even if the witness’s statement was testimonial, the error was harmless beyond all reasonable doubt because, among other things, the petitioner did not deny the information and other evidence corroborated it. *Id.* at 513, 745 S.E.2d at 551. This case is even easier because Petitioner admitted the same facts in Tiffany’s statement directly. So “any Confrontation Clause violation” here “would have been harmless.” *United States v. Common*, 563 F. App’x 429, 435 (6th Cir. 2014) (noting that other testimony established the disputed fact).

B. Tiffany’s statement satisfies the hearsay rules.

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